IN THE SUPREME COURT OF IOWA

NO. 18-1229

(Grievance Commission Docket No. 848)

IOWA SUPREME COURT ATTORNEY DISCIPLINARY BOARD,

Complainant-Appellee,

VS.

MATTHEW L. NOEL,

Respondent-Appellant.

APPEAL FROM THE GRIEVANCE COMMISSION, 539th DIVISION, MIKKIE R. SCHULTZ, PRESIDENT

RESPONDENT-APPELLANT'S FINAL BRIEF AND REQUEST FOR ORAL ARGUMENT

By: /s/ Max Kirk

Max E. Kirk #AT00043404

3324 Kimball Avenue

P.O. Box 2696

Waterloo, IA 50704-2696

(319)234-2638

(319) 234-2237 fax

mkirk@ballkirkholm.com

evajpeyi@ballkirkholm.com

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT-APPELLANT

And

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

- I. THE GRIEVANCE COMMISSION ERRED IN RELYING UPON THE DOCTRINE OF ISSUE PRECLUSION
- II. THE GRIEVANCE COMMISSION ERRED IN ADMITTING MINUTES OF TESTIMONY IN A CRIMINAL CASE AS EVIDENCE IN THIS PROCEEDING

State v. Beckett, 383 N.W.2d 66 (Iowa Ct. App. 1985)

State v. Gonzalez, 582 N.W.2d 515 (Iowa 19980

State v. Long, 628 N.W.2d 440, 447 (Iowa 2001)

State v. Menke, 227 N.W.2d 184 (Iowa 1975)

III. RESPONDENT-APPELLANT DID NOT KNOWINGLY VIOLATE IOWA RULE OF PROFESSIONAL RESPONSIBILITY 32:1.5

Iowa Supreme Ct. Att'y Disciplinary Board v. Laing, 832 N.W.2d 366 (Iowa 2013)

IV. THE GRIEVANCE COMMISSION ERRED IN FINDING THE ACTIONS OF RESPONDENT-APPELLANT REFLECTED ADVERSELY ON HIS FITNESS TO PRACTICE LAW

Iowa Supreme Ct. Att'y Disciplinary Board v. Kress, 747 N.W.2d 530(Iowa 2008)

Iowa Supreme Ct. Att'y Disciplinary Board v. Weaver, 750 N.W.2d 71 (Iowa 2008)

- V. THE GRIEVANCE COMMISSION ERRED WHEN IT FOUND RESPONDENT-APPELLANT DID NOT ATTEMPT TO PAY RESTITUTION UNTIL HE WAS ORDERED TO DO SO IN THE CRIMINAL CASE
- VI. THE SACTION IMPOSED ON REPONDENT/APPELLANT IS INCONSISTENT WITH SACTIONS IMPOSED UPON OTHER INDIVIDUALS WHO HAVE EXHIBITED SIMILAR BEHAVIOR

VII. A SUSPENSION OF 90 DAYS WOULD BE AN APPROPRIATE SANCTION IN THIS CASE

Iowa Supreme Ct. Att'y Disciplinary Board v. Richbaugh, 728 N.W.2d 375 (Iowa 2007) Iowa Supreme Ct. Att'y Disciplinary Board v. Thompson, 732 N.W.2D 865 (Iowa 2007)

ROUTING STATEMENT

Pursuant to Grievance Commission Rule 36.22(1) this appeal is taken directly to the Iowa Supreme Court.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Nature of the Case

This is an attorney disciplinary case. The Iowa Supreme Court

Disciplinary Board (Board) filed a Complaint alleging unprofessional

conduct by Respondent-Appellant Matthew L. Noel on October 30, 2017.

An Amended and Substituted Complaint was filed on February 7, 2018. The

Respondent-Appellant generally denied the allegations made by the Board.

The matter came on for hearing before the 539th Division of the Grievance Commission (Division) of the Supreme Court of Iowa on March 27-28, 2018. On July 17, 2018, the Division found the Respondent-Appellant had violated Iowa R. Prof'l Conduct 32:1.5(a), charging an unreasonable fee or charging unreasonable expenses; Iowa R. Prof'l Conduct 32:8.4(b), committing a criminal act which reflects adversely on fitness to practice law; Iowa R. Prof'l Conduct 32:8.4(c), engaging in conduct involving dishonesty, fraud, deceit or misrepresentation.

It was the recommendation of the Division that Respondent-Appellant be suspended from the practice of law for an indefinite period with no

Supreme Court makes the ultimate decision in the matter. The Respondent-Appellant was also assessed costs in the total amount of \$1,063.13.

Notice of Appeal was filed with the Clerk of the Grievance

Commission of the Clerk of the Iowa Supreme Court on July 25, 2018.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

The Findings of Fact of the Division are adopted by the Respondent-Appellant with the following exceptions as noted herein.

At paragraphs 34, 35, 36, 37 and 38 of the Division's Findings of Fact the Division in reality makes legal conclusions rather than findings of fact. These legal conclusions are directly related to the Respondent-Appellant's appeal point I, the Division erred in relying upon the doctrine of issue preclusion, and II, the Division erred in admitting Minutes of Testimony as evidence. Similarly, the Respondent-Appellant does not accept the Division's findings at paragraphs 43, 44, 45 and 46 in that those paragraphs do not contain findings of fact but rather conclusions of law. With the exceptions stated above, the Respondent-Appellant accepts the Findings of Fact of the Division for purposes of this appeal.

SCOPE AND STANDARD OF REVIEW

The Iowa Supreme Court reviews attorney disciplinary cases de novo. *Iowa Supreme Ct. Att'y Disciplinary Board v. Pederson*, 887 N.W.2d 387, 391 (Iowa 2016); Iowa Ct. R. 36.21(1). The Board must prove attorney misconduct by a convincing preponderance of the evidence. *Iowa Supreme Ct. Att'y Disciplinary Board v. Khowassah*, 890 N.W.2d 647, 650 (Iowa 2017). The findings of the Grievance Commission are respected by the court but not binding. *Iowa Supreme Ct. Att'y Disciplinary Board v. Wheeler*, 824 N.W.2d 505, 509 (Iowa 2012). The Supreme Court may impose a greater or lesser sanction than recommended by the Grievance Commission. *Iowa Supreme Ct. Att'y Disciplinary Board v. Said*, 869 N.W. 2d 185, 190 (Iowa 2015).

ARGUMENT

I. THE GRIEVANCE COMMISSION ERRED IN RELYING UPON THE DOCTRINE OF ISSUE PRECLUSION

In its Amended and Substituted Complaint filed March 5, 2018, the Complainant relies upon a sequence of events commencing with the March 2016 Attorney General Trial Information, filed in the Iowa District Court for Polk County, Case No. FECR294112 charging Respondent-Appellant with the crime of Theft in the Second Degree, a Class D felony in violation of

Iowa Code §714.1(3), §714.2(2) and §714(3). (App. p. 1). This charge was amended by Trial Information filed June 19, 2017 which amends the felony charge to two serious misdemeanor charges in violation of §714.1(3), §714.2(4) and §714.3 of the Iowa Code. (App. p. 82). The Board also relies upon its Exhibit 6, Respondent-Appellant's Petition to Plead Guilty to a Serious Misdemeanor. (App. p. 86-88).

In the prosecution of Respondent-Appellant, the Board relied upon the concept of issue preclusion contending that the elements of Count I of the Board's Complaint against the Respondent-Appellant were satisfied by virtue of the fact that Respondent-Appellant had pled guilty to two serious misdemeanor charges. Additionally, the Board issued its Issue Preclusion Notice on March 5, 2018, stating that the Complainant intends to invoke issue preclusion with regard to all matters involved in the criminal case proceeding for Polk County, FECR294112. (App. p. 72).

At paragraphs 34, 35, 36, 37 and 38 of the Division's Findings of Fact, the Division finds that Respondent-Appellant's conduct with regard to the family team meetings as alleged in Count I of the Board's Complaint had been decided by Respondent-Appellant's plea of guilty in the criminal proceedings. This is classic use of issue preclusion. It is significant to note that the Division specifically finds that the allegations against Respondent-

Appellant concerning mileage reimbursement was not part of the criminal proceedings and was not subject to any arguments of issue preclusion.

(App. p. 174).

The testimony in the case does not establish a factual basis for the application of issue preclusion in this matter. Respondent-Appellant admitted that on a handful of occasions he submitted bills to the State Public Defendant (SPD) for family team meetings with dates or descriptions that he later realized were false. He did not however submit those bills with the intent to procure more money than what was called for in the contract. The Respondent-Appellant testified his record keeping was not tracking his time sufficiently to provide the SPD with an appropriate record of the meetings that he attended.

In order to comply with the time limits of getting paid by the SPD, Respondent-Appellant would sometimes be as accurate as he could on his billing statements and would guess at dates or label events as family team meetings for the sake of brevity. In fact, the actual time spent on the client's case was correct. The description was inaccurate. (Tr. p. 196). At the time, Respondent-Appellant testified he assumed that as long as he wasn't billing for more time than he expended on a case this was acceptable. He testified

at the hearing that he has since changed his billing practices and attempts to keep better records.

Respondent-Appellant was initially charged with a felony violation. He testified that he contemplated the plea offer made by the Attorney General's office in consultation with his criminal attorney Carter Stevens, and they discussed the factual basis for his guilty plea. In consultation with his criminal attorney, Respondent-Appellant came to the conclusion that by mislabeling events and dates a factual basis was created under the pertinent statute for support of the charge against him even if Respondent-Appellant did not knowingly submit any bills for reimbursement that he did not think he had properly earned. Respondent-Appellant took full responsibility for his actions by pleading guilty to the charge as shown by Exhibit 6 and reaffirmed to the Division he was not attempting to argue around this plea of guilt. The Respondent-Appellant submits that at best the actions in inaccurate billing of family team meetings constitutes sloppiness and negligence and is not evidence of a crime of intent. By relying upon issue preclusion, both the Board and the Division were allowed to take a significant shortcut in this case. Sloppy billing practices prevented the Respondent-Appellant from truly creating a record that would allow him to prove the meetings he attended. Also, the events at issue had occurred as

far back as 2011. (App. pp. 139-166). The SPD in effect stated that it did not have a record of his attendance at a certain family team meeting so therefore he must not have attended the meeting even though a billing had been submitted. At best, this factual scenario would allow the Board to submit proof that Respondent-Appellant needed to improve his book keeping practice and perhaps obtained fees without support and justification for those bills. In reality, the doctrine of issue preclusion allowed the Board and the Division to go far beyond this inferring into the disciplinary record an intent that should not have been present.

Rather than face a felony count with a factual basis that his inadequate records could not rebut, Respondent-Appellant pled guilty to two serious misdemeanors and paid a fine which in total is less than \$1,000. Such a plea deal and the circumstances surrounding the plea deal do not constitute proof by convincing preponderance of the evidence that Respondent-Appellant violated Iowa Code §714.1(3)

II. THE GRIEVANCE COMMISSION ERRED IN ADMITTING MINUTESOF TESTIMONY IN A CRIMINAL CASE AS EVIDENCE IN THIS PROCEEDING

Exhibit 5 is additional minutes of testimony filed in the case of *State of Iowa v. Matthew Noel*, FECR294112 in the District Court of Iowa for Polk County. Respondent-Appellant had objected to the admission of those exhibits on the basis of hearsay. The objection was made before testimony was taken. (Tr. p. 5-6). At the conclusion of testimony, the division president admitted Exhibits 2 and 5. The Division president stated with regard to Exhibits 2 and 5: "I'm going to rule that those are allowed pursuant to the rules cited yesterday, Iowa Rule 5.801(b)(2)(b), I believe which is offered against a party opponent. I can read the rule, if necessary, but those are determined admitted." (Tr. p. 258-259).

There is no Iowa R. of Evid. 5.801(b)(2)(b). The division president explains that she believes the rule pertains to statements offered against a party opponent. The statements contained in the minutes of testimony are certainly not statements made by Respondent-Appellant Noel. Accordingly, these statements cannot be an exception to the hearsay rule under Iowa R. of Evid. 5.801(d)(1). The minutes of testimony do not come within the hearsay exception Iowa R. of Crim. P. 5.801(d)(2). The minutes of testimony are not

statements made by Respondent-Appellant and cannot be offered against him as impeachment as to an opposing party's statement.

One of the reasons the Board submitted for admission of the minutes of testimony was that they were adoptive statements by the Respondent-Appellant pursuant to Iowa R. of Evid. 5.801(b)(2). In analyzing the case law, the Respondent-Appellant believes that the reliance on this rule is misplaced. The Iowa appellate courts have held a stringent standard when it comes to adoptive statements, holding the statement needs to be unequivocally adopted by the party for it to be admissible under this rule. "It must be shown a person clearly and unambiguously assented to the statements of another before an adoptive admission comes into being." State v. Menke, 227 N.W.2d 184 (Iowa 1975). In Menke, the Court disallowed as hearsay portions of a conversation between three individuals where the defendant was one of the individuals in a conversation. At the end of the conversation there was an agreement between the three individuals. Although the defendant was part of the conversation and had responded to the statements made by the other individuals, the court said there could not be an unambiguous assent by Menke to the truth of any of the inculpatory statements. Admission of such testimony was hearsay.

In *State v. Beckett*, 383 N.W.2d 66 (Iowa Ct. App. 1985) the court gave further instruction on the meaning of an adoptive statement. "When hearsay accusations are sought to be introduced as evidence against the defendant in a criminal proceedings on the ground that hearsay was adopted by the defendant as an admission of guilt, the trial court must first determine that the asserted adoptive admission be manifested by conduct or statement which are unequivocal, positive, and definite in nature, clearly showing that the defendant intended to adopt hearsay statements as his own." *State v. Beckett*, 383 N.W.2d 66 at 69 (Iowa Ct. App. 1985).

In *State v. Gonzalez*, 582 N.W.2d 515 (Iowa 1998) it was error for a trial court to use minutes of testimony that were not necessary to establish a factual basis for the plea and determining the sentence of the defendant. In doing so the Supreme Court said, "The sentencing court should only consider those facts contained in the minutes that are admitted or otherwise established true. Where portions of the minutes are not necessary to establish a factual basis for the plea, they are deemed denied by the defendant and are otherwise unproven and a sentencing court cannot consider or rely upon them." *Id.* at 517.

The minutes of testimony contained in Exhibit 2 pertained to the felony charges against the Respondent-Appellant. These minutes of

testimony were filed on March 31, 2016. (App. p. 76). The amended trial information reducing the felony charge to a serious misdemeanor was filed on June 19, 2017. (App. p. 82). The amended minutes of testimony were filed on or about November 2, 2017. (App. p. 84). The Petition to Plead Guilty to a Serious Misdemeanor, Exhibit 6, was e-filed in the office of the Clerk of the Polk County District Court on June 22, 2017. (App. p. 86). The additional minutes of testimony represented by Exhibit 5 states that it was e-filed with the Polk County Clerk of Court on June 19, 2017 but the exhibit also bears a certificate of service date of November 2, 2017.

No adequate explanation was made by the Board regarding the apparent discrepancy in these minutes of testimony. Nothing in the minutes of testimony, Exhibit 2 or Exhibit 5, can be seen as a statement which Respondent-Appellant somehow adopted as his own for purposes of a criminal plea. Quite to the contrary, these minutes of testimony are simply unsubstantiated and undocumented statements presented by the Attorney General's office and made part of the criminal file in the proceedings against Respondent-Appellant. They are not statements against interest by Respondent-Appellant and they are not adoptive statements by the Respondent-Appellant. Despite objection made to their admission, the

division president admitted these statements which were clearly and substantially prejudicial to the Respondent-Appellant in these proceedings.

The receipt of inadmissible hearsay is considered to be prejudicial to the non-offering party unless otherwise established. See *State v. Long*, 628 N.W.2d 440, 447 (Iowa 2001). The Division is in error in admitting Exhibits 2 and 5 which is prejudicial and which error now requires that the Supreme Court set aside the Division's consideration of these minutes of testimony. This primarily pertains to Count I of the Complaint against the Respondent-Appellant which should be considered dismissed due to the receipt of prejudicial inadmissible testimony.

III. RESPONDENT-APPELLANT DID NOT KNOWINGLY VIOLATE IOWA RULE OF PROFESSIONAL RESPONSIBILITY 32:1.5

The Board presented no evidence to substantiate its charge that Respondent-Appellant knew the fees and expenses he submitted to the SPD were unreasonable.

At the hearing, Respondent-Appellant admitted he had designated things as "Family Team Meetings" on his billing sheets to the SPD that either did not happen on that day or were not official family team meetings. (Tr. p. 172). Lacking records of his time spent on behalf of a client, Respondent-Appellant was unable to substantiate where he had been on

certain dates giving rise the inference that he had improperly submitted billings to the SPD concerning the family team meetings. (Tr. p. 146). Often times, matters would be attended other than a family team meeting but the billing put down under family team meeting for ease of reference. (Tr. p. 172).

Typically the court finds a violation of Iowa R. Prof'l Conduct 32:1.5 for excessive billing when fees are clearly excessive as determined by the factor in the rule or when an attorney takes a fee before the time set by statute or when a fee is taken that is in excess of the statutory maximum. A situation analogous to Respondent-Appellant arose in the case of *Iowa Supreme Ct. Att'y Disciplinary Board v. Laing*, 832 N.W.2d 366 (Iowa 2013).

In the *Laing* case, two attorneys were suspended for eighteen months for consistently over a period of eighteen years charging excessive fees for work they were doing on a conservatorship case. The court also determined that their actions violated the Iowa ethics rules as it pertains to deception and criminal activity that reflects adversely on their membership to the bar. However in the *Laing* case it was determined that the attorneys were paid clearly excessive fees and were paid for work they had not performed. The facts of the case at issue here are more nuanced than *Laing*. First,

Respondent-Appellant believes there is no evidence showing he used deception to defraud anyone out of money except for the \$400 he agreed to plead guilty to in the criminal case. (App. pp. 86-88). The entire matter of record keeping for the family team meetings was often confusing. The auditor's notes, Exhibit O, show the difficulty faced by the auditor in tracing back to the court officials in the various counties attended by Respondent-Appellant to confirm whether or not a family team meeting had even been held on that date or if it had been moved to a different day. Respondent-Appellant testified that in some instances he would attend a family team meeting and not make reference that he had done so. In other instances he strongly believed that he had attended a family team meeting but simply had not correctly submitted the billing information to confirm that. In other cases, he might have met with family members after a family team meeting was cancelled. (Tr. p. 172). Although an official family team meeting was not held or confirmed by Department of Human Services the time was nevertheless spent by Respondent-Appellant in service of a client.

All in all, aside from the \$400 Respondent-Appellant admitted he obtained by deception as a result of the criminal plea, no evidence was presented by the Board that any of the Respondent-Appellant's bills for family team meetings were done with the intent to deceive. Respondent-

Appellant maintains he never used deception to be paid more money than he was owed. (Tr. p. 185).

IV. THE GRIEVANCE COMMISSION ERRED IN FINDING THE ACTIONS OF RESPONDENT-APPELLANT REFLECTED ADVERSELY ON HIS FITNESS TO PRACTICE LAW

Unquestionably, the Respondent-Appellant has made errors in his billing practices. These errors pertain both to the billings made to the SPD for family team meetings as well as the duplicate mileage issue.

Respondent-Appellant has explained the circumstances under which he entered a plea of guilty to the two serious misdemeanors involving billings for family team meetings. Respondent-Appellant also has explained how the duplicate mileage issue came into being and how it was corrected in a prompt and effective manner after he was informed of his error by the SPD.

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