# In the Supreme Court of Iowa

# Supreme Court No. 18-1229 Grievance Commission No. 848

Iowa Supreme Court Attorney Disciplinary Board,

Appellee,

VS.

Matthew L. Noel,

**Appellant** 

Appeal from the Report of the Iowa Supreme Court Grievance Commission

**Appellee's Amended Final Brief** 

Wendell J. Harms, AT0003209
Iowa Judicial Branch Building
1111 East Court Avenue
Des Moines, IA 50319-5003
Telephone: (515) 348-4684
Fax: (515) 348-4699
wendell.harms@iowacourts.gov

**Attorney for Appellee** 

# **

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

# **Argument**

# Issue I – Whether the Grievance Commission Erred in Relying upon the Doctrine of Issue Preclusion

The Commission properly invoked the doctrine of issue preclusion in considering the effect of Noel's guilty plea to two counts of theft in the

fourth degree, serious misdemeanors. The pleadings, the case law, and the court rules compel this conclusion.

Iowa Ct. R. 36.17(4) authorizes the use of issue preclusion in Count I of this case if these three conditions exist:

- 1. The issue has been resolved in a criminal proceeding that resulted in a finding of guilt.
- 2. The burden of proof in the prior proceeding was greater than a preponderance of the evidence.
- 3. The party seeking preclusive effect has given written notice to the opposing party, not less than 10 days prior to the hearing, of the party's intention to invoke issue preclusion.

Those conditions exist here.

In *Hunter v. City of Des Moines*, 300 N.W.2d 121 (Iowa 1981), the Court wrote: "'[O]ffensive use' or 'affirmative use' of the [issue preclusion] doctrine is used to mean that a stranger to the judgment, ordinarily the plaintiff in the second action, relies upon a former judgment as conclusively establishing in his favor an issue which he must prove as an essential element of his cause of action or claim." *Id.* at 123.

In *Bd. of Prof'l Ethics & Conduct v. D.J.I.*, 545 N.W.2d 866 (Iowa 1996), the Court approved the Board's use of issue preclusion with regard to a judgment against D.J.I. for fraud, misrepresentation, breach of loyalty, and conflict of interest. *Id.* at 869, 877. The Board must establish:

- (1) the issue [sought to be precluded in the subsequent action] must be identical [to the issue litigated in the prior action];
- (2) the issue must have been raised and litigated in the prior action;
- (3) the issue must have been material and relevant to the disposition of the prior action; and
- (4) the determination made of the issue in the prior action must have been necessary and essential to the resulting judgment. (citations omitted).

*Id.* at 874-75. The Court recognized that D.J.I. would be "permitted to present evidence of mitigating facts and circumstances in the upcoming hearing concerning any sanction to be imposed." *Id.* at 877.

In *Dettmann v. Kruckenberg*, 613 N.W.2d 238 (Iowa 2000), the Court wrote: "The rule is well established in Iowa that a validly entered and accepted guilty plea precludes a criminal defendant from relitigating

essential elements of the criminal offense in a later civil case arising out of the same transaction or incident. (citations omitted)." *Id.* at 244-45.

In *Fischer v. City of Sioux City*, 654 N.W.2d 544 (Iowa 2002), the Court reiterated two more requirements if "issue preclusion is to be used offensively ..."; these additional requirements are:

- a. the opposing party in the prior action must have been "afforded a full and fair opportunity to litigate the issues . . . "; and
- b. no "other circumstances are present that would justify granting the party resisting issue preclusion occasion to relitigate the issues. (citation omitted)."

Id. at 547. In Attorney Disciplinary Bd. v. Stowers, 823 N.W.2d 1, 9 (Iowa 2012), the Court assumed, without deciding, that these additional requirements apply under what is now Rule 36.17(4). The Fischer Court also wrote: "[T]he general rule is that issue preclusion – whether offensive or defensive – must be pled and proved by the party asserting it. (footnote omitted)." Id. at 548.

In *Attorney Disciplinary Bd. v. Iverson*, 723 N.W.2d 806, (Iowa 2006), the Court reiterated that while issue preclusion barred the lawyer

"from relitigating his criminal conduct", the lawyer was "'permitted to present evidence of mitigating facts and circumstances ... concerning any sanction to be imposed.' (citation omitted)." *Id.* at 810.

In this case, the Board pleaded the elements of issue preclusion in paragraphs 37 through 43 of its March 5, 2018, amended complaint. App. pp. 52-53.

While Noel denied amended complaint paragraph 37, he admitted these amended complaint paragraphs alleging that he pleaded guilty to theft: 23, 25, 26, 28, and 29. App. pp. 42-43. Secondly, these Board exhibits corroborated Noel's guilty plea to two counts of theft: 4, 6 p. 2, and 7. Thirdly, Noel's testimony acknowledged his guilty plea to two counts of theft: Tr. p. 168 l. 18 – p. 169 l. 13, Tr. p. 172 ll. 1-21, Tr. p. 198 ll. 14-21, and Tr. p. 202 l. 23 – p. 203 l. 1. Noel's guilty plea proceeding in district court resolved the issue of his conduct as to his billings for Family Team Meetings - he committed theft.

While Noel denied amended complaint paragraph 39, the exhibits noted above clearly establish that the State prosecuted Noel in the district court in Polk County; the State raised the issue of Noel's theft of taxpayer money, the parties litigated that issue, and they resolved it by reaching a

plea agreement. In his amended answer, Noel acknowledged "that the pleadings in the criminal case speak for themselves"; indeed they do – they establish that his conduct as to his billings for Family Team Meetings was raised and litigated in district court in a criminal case. App. p. 43  $\P$  39.

While Noel denied amended complaint paragraph 41, the amended trial information focused on his billings for Family Team Meetings. App. pp. 83-84. In his amended answer, Noel asks this Court to conclude that following a guilty plea proceeding, the district court made "no determination of [his] conduct." App. p. 43 ¶ 41. Nothing could be farther from the truth. In accepting Noel's guilty pleas and convicting Noel of theft, the district court concluded that Noel's fee billings to the SPD for some family team meetings were criminal.

While Noel denied amended complaint paragraph 43, he acknowledged "[t]here are no circumstances to re-litigate the matter as a criminal proceeding." App. p. 44 ¶ 43. In keeping with the recognized approach to using issue preclusion in an attorney discipline case, the Commission "afforded [Noel] the right to present information" to it. *Id.* 

Turning to Iowa case law, Noel's facts fit well within the mainstream of the cases that have considered the use of issue preclusion in attorney discipline. This Court's decision in *Attorney Disciplinary Bd. v. Iverson,* 723 N.W.2d 806 (Iowa 2006), summarizes the use of issue preclusion in Noel's case: issue preclusion bars Noel "from relitigating his criminal conduct", but he is "'permitted to present evidence of mitigating facts and circumstances ... concerning any sanction to be imposed.' (citation omitted)." *Id.* at 810. The Commission followed that prescription here.

# Issue II – Whether the Grievance Commission Erred in Admitting Minutes of Testimony in a Criminal Case as Evidence in this Proceeding

At pages 258-59 of the hearing transcript, the Commission admitted into the record, relying on Iowa R. Evid. "5.801(b)(2)(b)", Board Exhibits 2 and 5, the Minutes of Testimony from Noel's criminal case. App. pp. 77-82 and 85-86. Noel correctly points out there is no such Rule. The Rule to which the Commission President referred is 5.801(d)(2)(B), and the Board attributes this apparent misstatement in the record to a scrivener's error by the court reporter trying to distinguish between the pronunciation of the letter "b" from the letter "d".

Rule 5.801(d)(2)(B) states:

- d. *Statements that are not hearsay*. A statement that meets the following conditions is not hearsay:
- (2) *An opposing party's statement*. The statement is offered against an opposing party and ... (B) Is one the party manifested that it adopted or believed to be true; ....

Noel's criticism of the Commission's ruling admitting Exhibits 2 and 5 fails to recognize the source of the problem he decries – himself. App. pp. 77-82 and 85-86. In his petition to plead guilty to a serious misdemeanor, Exhibit 6, he "ask[ed] the court to accept as true the minutes of testimony ...." App. pp. 87-89. This broad adoption by Noel of the State's Minutes converts all of Exhibits 2 and 5 into "not hearsay". App. pp. 77-82 and 85-86. The Board would have been guessing as to what Noel considered to be "true" if it attempted to offer only a portion of Exhibits 2 and 5 since Noel did not limit his adoption of the Minutes. App. pp. 77-82 and 85-86. There is no reason to limit the Board's offer of these Exhibits into evidence when Noel has not limited his adoption of them as "true".

In *State v. Menke*, 227 N.W.2d 184 (Iowa 1975), the Court, in a 5-4 decision, concluded that Gary Menke had not adopted the hearsay statement made by Vivian Palmer to an undercover police officer, Roger Timko, in Menke's presence that the drugs she had to sell to Timko were actually owned by Menke. *Id.* 186-88. The Court concluded that the prejudice to Menke by the district court's admission of this statement by Palmer through the testimony of Timko was not cured by other evidence presented at trial; the Court reversed Menke's conviction. *Id.* at 189-90.

The Court noted that Menke's silence during this conversation would not make Palmer's statement admissible. *Id.* at 187-88. The Court determined that the State had failed to prove that Menke "clearly and unambiguously assented to" Palmer's statement and therefore "an adoptive admission [had not] come[] into being. (citation omitted)." *Id.* at 188.

Menke's failure to "clearly and unambiguously assent[] to"
Palmer's statement is a far cry from Noel's written request to the district
court that it accept the State's Minutes of Testimony as true. In his
petition to plead guilty Noel clearly and unambiguously adopted the

Minutes as true, and the Commission properly admitted them into the record in this case.

In *State v. Black*, 324 N.W.2d 313 (Iowa 1982), the Court remanded Donald Black's case for resentencing because "the district court may have improperly based Black's sentence on allegations arising from the unprosecuted burglary charge that were neither admitted by the defendant nor proved independently." *Id.* at 314. Citing *State v. Messer*, 306 N.W.2d 731, 732-33 (Iowa 1981), the Court wrote: "We will set aside a sentence and remand a case to the district court for resentencing if the sentencing court relied upon charges of an unprosecuted offense that was neither admitted to by the defendant nor otherwise proved." *Id.* at 315.

In *Black*, the Court specifically addressed the use of minutes of testimony:

Minutes of testimony attached to the information do not necessarily provide facts that may be relied upon and considered by a sentencing court. We have approved using the minutes to establish a factual basis for the charge to which the defendant pleads guilty. (citation omitted). However, where portions of the minutes are not necessary to establish a factual basis for the guilty plea, they are denied by the defendant, and they are otherwise unproved, we find no basis to allow the sentencing court to consider and rely on these portions. No evidence is before the court that shows

the alleged facts contained in these portions of the minutes are valid. (citation omitted). The sentencing court should only consider those facts contained in the minutes that are admitted to or otherwise established as true.

*Id.* at 316. Black denied committing a burglary; he claimed that he gained entry to the residence by the voluntary action of the resident. *Id.* at 314.

The Court provided this instruction for resentencing Black: "The district court shall not consider the dismissed charge nor the facts arising from it unless these are admitted to by [Black] or independently proved." *Id.* 

In this disciplinary proceeding, the Court must determine Noel's fitness as a lawyer, not what his punishment should be for committing a crime. As part of his plea proceeding, Noel admitted the Minutes of Testimony were true. In the *Black* case, the Court disapproved the district court's consideration of a dismissed burglary charge when sentencing Black for indecent exposure. *Id.* at 314. In Noel's case, he pleaded guilty to two counts of theft in the fourth degree in exchange for the dismissal of the one count of theft in the second degree.

The Commission received Noel's testimony about his criminal conduct and his decision to plead guilty to two counts of theft. The

Commission received Noel's testimony about his mileage expense billing. The Commission received the Board's testimony and exhibits in support of Noel's theft convictions and his multiple mileage expense claims. In the context of this record, the Commission properly admitted these Minutes of Testimony into the record.

In *State v. Beckett*, 383 N.W.2d 66 (Iowa Ct. App. 1985), the Court of Appeals surveyed the Iowa case law on adoptive admissions before concluding that Gregory Beckett's post arrest head nod, after his codefendant, Mark Lawson, made a statement to him, did not unambiguously indicate Beckett's assent to Lawson's statement that Beckett should tell the booking officer that they were under the influence of cocaine and alcohol. *Id.* at 69. The Court of Appeals concluded that the police officer's testimony about Beckett's head nod to Lawson's statement did not qualify as an adoptive admission. *Id.* 

Noel's written request to the district court to accept the State's Minutes of Testimony as true is in a different league than Beckett's head nod. In the language of a Minnesota case, *Village of New Hope v. Duplessie*, 231 N.W.2d 548, 553 (Minn. 1975), cited by the Court of Appeals, Noel

unequivocally, positively, definitely, and clearly adopted the statements in the Minutes of Testimony. *Id.* 

In *State v. Gonzalez*, 582 N.W.2d 515 (Iowa 1998), the Court remanded Francisco Gonzalez's case for resentencing because "The sentencing court improperly considered the dismissed drug tax stamp charges." *Id.* at 517. Gonzalez never admitted the drug stamp offenses. *Id.* Citing *Black* and two other cases, the Court wrote: "A court may not consider an unproven or unprosecuted offense when sentencing a defendant unless (1) the facts before the court show the accused committed the offense, or (2) the defendant admits it. (citations omitted)." *Id.* 

Noel admitted committing a theft of fees from the SPD and acknowledged that he billed mileage for every client that had a hearing on the same date even though he only made one trip. The Minutes of Testimony relate to Noel's admitted or acknowledged conduct. The Minutes are properly a part of this record.

Noel argues that the Board needs to explain the dates found on Exhibit 5. App. pp. 85-86. The Board offers this explanation: 1. The State filed Exhibit 5 on June 19, 2017, at 5:03 p.m. as shown at the top of both

pages of the Exhibit. App. pp. 85-86. On November 2, 2017, a designee of the Clerk of the District Court signed a certificate that reads: "Comes now Clerk of the District Court of the State of Iowa, in and for Polk County and does hereby certify that this is a true and complete copy of the Original Instrument filed in this office." 3. The November 2, 2017, date refers to this certificate of authenticity and not to the date of filing the document or the date of serving the document.

Based on the other evidence in this record, including Noel's testimony, the Commission properly admitted Exhibits 2 and 5 into the record. App. pp. 77-82 and 85-86.

### **Issue III - Whether Noel Knowingly Violated Rule 32:1.5**

Rule 32:1.5(a) lists eight factors to consider in determining the reasonableness of a fee or an expense. While this list is not offered as a complete list of the relevant factors, it is important to note that "knowingly" is not one of the identified factors.

The first enumerated factor is "the time and labor required". This straight forward phrase includes the concept of honesty. For a fee to be reasonable, it must be based on an honest assessment of the time and effort involved. From this premise flows the idea that a fee charged for a

service not provided is not reasonable. The same concept guides what a reasonable expense is; it must be an honest request for reimbursement for real costs incurred.

Noel complains that he lacked records about time spent on behalf of a client, including family team meetings. While the Trial Informations, Exhibits 1 and 4, App. pp. 75-76 and 83-84, identified Noel committing a theft during a period from July 2009 through August 2013, the March 2016 Minutes of Testimony, Exhibit 2, App. pp. 77-82, identified several specific dates of concern:

- Witness C. P. November 2011 and January 2013 (App. p. 78)
- Witness J. B. July 2011 (App. pp. 78-79)
- Witness D. G. January 2013 (App. p. 79)
- Witness D. S. August 2011 and January 2013 (App. p. 79)
- Witness P. S. January 2013 (App. p. 80)

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